RECEIVED, 8/27/2013 13:08:36, Thomas D. Hall, Clerk, Supreme Court

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA, DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION, CASE NO. SC2013-775 LT CASE NO. 1D11-5496 08-1218-CA01-ORP

Petitioner,

vs.

CLIPPER BAY INVESTMENTS, LLC,

Respondent.

INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS OF PETITIONER, STATE OF FLORIDA, DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION

On Review from the District Court of Appeal First District, State of Florida

## PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Clipper Bay Investments, LLC, the plaintiff/counterdefendant/appellant/cross-appellee below and respondent here, will be referred to as Clipper Bay. The Florida Department of Transportation, the defendant/counter-plaintiff/appellee/crossappellant below and petitioner here, will be referred to as the Department. The Marketable Record Titles to Real Property Act, Chapter 712, Florida Statutes, will be referred to as MRTA.

Citations to the record on appeal will be indicated parenthetically as "R." with the appropriate volume and page numbers. Citations to the transcript of the non-jury trial conducted on May 16 and 17, 2011, will be indicated parenthetically as "T." with the appropriate court reporter's volume and page numbers. Citations to the Appendix accompanying this brief will be indicated parenthetically as "A." with the appropriate document and page numbers.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case arises from an appeal and cross-appeal of a final judgment entered in a quiet title and ejectment action involving seven acres of land located north of the Department's Interstate 10 (I-10) fence line in Santa Rosa County. <u>Clipper Bay</u> Investments, LLC v. State of Florida Department of

Transportation and Santa Rosa County, Case No. 1D11-5496 (Fla. 1st DCA February 5, 2013), Slip Opinion pp. 1-3. (A.1 1-3) The Department's claim was based upon a single, recorded, 1965 conveyance that included the disputed property and other lands, which had been acquired for the construction of I-10. <u>Id.</u> at 3. (A.1 3) Clipper Bay's claim was based upon a 1970 conveyance (Clipper Bay's root of title as defined in MRTA) which also included the disputed parcel and other lands.<sup>1</sup> Id. (A.1 3)

The trial court quieted title to a portion of the disputed seven acres in each party.<sup>2</sup> (R.XI 2192-2202 (A.2)) On appeal Bay contended that trial Clipper the court erred in extinguishing only a portion of the Department's claim and the Department took the position that the exception contained in Section 712.03(5), Florida Statutes, precluded MRTA from extinguishing any portion of the Department's interest in the disputed lands. Clipper Bay, Slip Opinion, pp. 1-2. (A.1 1-2)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Typically, a pre-root interest will be extinguished by MRTA unless it is preserved by one or more of the exceptions to marketability the Legislature established in Section 712.03, Florida Statutes. The Section 712.03(1) exception for pre-root estates or interests disclosed by post-root muniments of title and the Section 712.03(5) exception for public easements and rights-of-way are at issue in this case.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> By order entered May 12, 2011, and confirmed by the Final Judgment, pursuant to agreement of the parties title to all lands in Block C of Escambia Shores, Unit No. 1, lying west of the southerly extension of the west boundary of Lot 442 was quieted in the Department. (R.IX 1691-1692; R.XI 2202) The trial court's action in this regard should be affirmed irrespective of the outcome of this appeal.

Department argued: (1) that no portion of its fee estate could be extinguished by operation of MRTA because the deed Clipper Bay relied on as its root of title failed to sufficiently describe the land which was conveyed to identify its location and boundaries: (2)that MRTA did not extinguish the Department's fee interest because a post-root muniment of title in Clipper Bay's chain of title specifically refers by an official record book and page to a recorded title transaction which confirmed the Department's estate; and (3) that the Section 712.03(5) exception preserved the entirety of the Department's estate.<sup>3</sup> (Answer/Cross-Initial Brief of Florida Department of Transportation, pp. 41-47; Cross-Reply Brief of Florida Department of Transportation, pp. 2-14) The lower court rejected the first two points without discussion and then proceeded to address the operation and application of the Section 712.03(5) exception. Clipper Bay, Slip Opinion, p. 2. (A.1 2)

With respect to the operation of Section 712.03(5), Clipper Bay looked to the Fourth District Court of Appeal's opinion in <u>Florida Dep't of Transp. v. Dardashti Properties</u>, 605 So. 2d 120 (Fla. 4th DCA 1992), <u>rev. denied</u>, 617 So. 2d 318 (Fla. 1993), which held that the Section 712.03(5) exception did not apply to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> For purposes of this Court's review, the Department does not dispute the sufficiency of the legal description in the conveyance Clipper Bay relies on for its root of title.

lands held in fee. <u>Id.</u> at 5. (A.1 5) Relying upon <u>Dardashti</u>, Clipper Bay argued that the trial court erred in extinguishing only a portion of the Department's pre-root claim because the Department acquired its lands in fee. <u>Id.</u> at 1-2, 5, 9. (A.1 1-2, 5, 9) Clipper Bay also took the position that the trial court misconstrued the Fifth District Court of Appeal's decision in <u>Water Control District of South Brevard v. Davidson</u>, 638 So. 2d 521 (Fla. 5th DCA 1994). <u>Id.</u> at 5-6. (A. 5-6) In that case the court applied the Section 712.03(5) exception to a fee estate to preserve the Water Control District's rights in lands that it had never used.

The Department urged the court not to follow <u>Dardashti's</u> narrow construction of Section 712.03(5) and argued that the exception precluded extinguishing any portion of its interest in the disputed lands and that the use of any portion of its fee estate as right-of-way preserved its interest in the entire estate. <u>Id.</u> at 2, 5, 9-10. (A.1 2, 5, 9-10)

The First District Court of Appeal rejected <u>Dardashti's</u> construction of Section 712.03(5) and concluded that the exception did in fact apply to rights-of-way held in fee by the Department. <u>Id.</u> at 15-17. (A.1 15-17) However, the court did not arrive at the result indicated by <u>Davidson</u>. Notwithstanding the fact that the Department had used a portion of its fee ownership to construct I-10 and had leased another portion to

Santa Rosa County to build a roadway, the court refused to apply Section 712.03(5) to preserve the Department's interest because the court was of the view that the Department had failed to present competent, substantial evidence that its I-10 right-ofway included the land claimed by Clipper Bay. <u>Id.</u> at 17-20. (A. 17-20)

The Department's Motion for Rehearing and Certification was denied on March 22, 2013, and the Department's Notice to Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction was timely filed on April 15, 2013. By order entered July 16, 2013, this Court accepted jurisdiction of this case.

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Along with the general operative facts which appear in the Department's Statement of the Case, the following additional factual information is necessary for the Court's consideration of the lower court's refusal to apply the Section 712.03(5) exception to preserve the entirety of the Department's fee estate although portions of the fee estate had been used as right-of-way (Issue I, C.) and the lower court's rejection of the Section 712.03(1) exception as a basis for preserving the entire fee estate. (Issue II)

Turning first to Issue I, C., there is no dispute that the Department's fee estate, which includes the property in issue,

was established by a single conveyance (119/303 deed (A.6)). Nor is there any dispute that I-10 was built on a portion of that fee estate and that the Department leased another portion of the estate to Santa Rosa County for the construction of a county road. The following portions of the testimony of Eddie Rudd, Wayne Parker, John Franklin Jackson, and Keith Hodges are also relevant.

Eddie Rudd, the document supervisor in right-of-way mapping in the Department's Chipley office (T.II 255), testified that right-of-way maps are used to track property acquisition. (T.II 258-259) It is important that the right-of-way map be prepared before a deed is prepared because the map shows what is needed to be acquired for the project. (T.II 263) The legal descriptions for the conveyances are taken from the map. (T.II Both the red and green areas on the right-of-way map (the 263) Department's fee estate) (See R.X 1811, 1812;A.7) were considered right-of-way. (T.II 267) When referring to a rightof-way line for the borrow area he characterized the borrow area as part of I-10 and being all for the I-10 project. (T.II 273)

On cross-examination, Mr. Rudd testified that the right-ofway maps were prepared prior to the acquisition of the property to build I-10 and the Bay Bridge. (T.II 282) He referred to both the limited access area and borrow area on the right-of-way map as right-of-way because he and the Department's Chipley

office generally refer to "things" the Department owns for use of roads as right-of-way. (T.II 283) The maps are a projection of what the Department needs to do the project. (T.II 283) Mr. Rudd also testified that right-of-way needs are developed from the construction plans and that he did not make a distinction between what the Department owns in fee and what it uses and right-of-way because right-of-way is needs for what the Department requires for a roadway project. (T.II 290, 293) The 119/303 conveyance vested the Department with its right-of-way. (T.II 293) Mr. Rudd stated that he believed the borrow area was used for fill on the interstate. (T.II 291)

Clipper Bay's surveyor, Wayne Parker testified that when he surveys the boundary of a Department property, he would use the right-of-way maps and not the deeds because "y'all know where your right-of-way is and y'all make a drawing of it." (T.I 128) If there was a dispute between a right-of-way map and a deeded description, Mr. Parker would use the right-of-way maps to establish the right-of-way. (T.I 150)

John Franklin Jackson was Clipper Bay's title examiner expert witness. (T.I 157) Regarding the issue of whether the I-10 fence line comprised the right-of-way line for I-10, Mr. Jackson testified:

> there is no document of record that tells me that I would have to worry about where the right-of-way line of Interstate 10 is.

Therefore the right-of-way line would be presumed to be the same one coming out of Jacksonville all the way where that fence line runs, all the way to the Escambia, I mean to the Escambia County line of Alabama. And I would have no reason, without a document of record to tell me, to believe or not believe that that was, in fact, the existing right-of-way line.

## (T.I 175-176)

During cross-examination Mr. Jackson did, however, acknowledge that depending upon where the Department's north I-10 right-of-way line is located, there may be no overlapping property. (T.I 196-197) If the only thing of record he had was a deed, Mr. Jackson would rely upon a surveyor for the location of the right-of-way line. (T.I 197) Mr. Jackson had previously stated:

> Well, again, based on my experience in all the years I've done examination, that interstate line fence that runs from Jacksonville to over here to towards Mobile is the accepted northerly right-of-way line. And barring something that is on record that tells me oh, by the way, this is not your north right-of-way line, I would have no reason to believe it wasn't. I would check with the surveyor and say where do you know this north right-of-way line.

(T.I 197) Mr. Jackson testified that the I-10 fence had been in place as long as he could remember, but conceded that there may be some places along the interstate where there are no fences. (T.I 198-199)

Eddie Rudd testified that the right-of-way map sheet 7 (A.7 2) does not reflect the location of the I-10 fence line and that the location of the fence line doesn't matter to the Department. (T.II 275) Mr. Rudd explained: "[I]n general, the fences follow the right-of-way lines but not necessarily so. We have places where we move the fence or whatever. So, we put the fence where we need it to be." (T.II 275) "The fences are in relation to use for limited access right-of-way." (T.II 276)

cross-examination Mr. Rudd testified On that to hís knowledge the I-10 fence line is not what the Department has established as its right-of-way. (T.II 284) The fence controls access onto the right-of-way (T.II 285), but the location of the fence doesn't matter because: "there are places where we've relocated fences and we've moved fences, not on the right-of-way line due to wetlands or something like that. So, the fences, we put the fence where it needs to be and it doesn't necessarily -- it's not necessarily on the right-of-way line itself." (T.II 286)

Clipper Bay's predecessor in title, Keith Hodges (T.III 314-315), testified that he was familiar with the location of I-10 by the fence line that ran south of his property and that by his survey, the fence line was his southern boundary. (T.III 320-321) Upon his inquiry concerning a portion of the I-10 fence line which, according to his survey, encroached on his

property, the Department indicated that it would not relocate the fence line because it claimed the land and the fence line was its right-of-way line. (T.III 322) He also asserted that the Department had not said anything to him about ownership of lands north of the I-10 fence line. (T.III 323)

The Department's argument in Issue II requires a showing that the instrument it is relying upon for purposes of the Section 712.03(1) exception to marketability is a muniment of title and that the instrument specifically refers by an official record book and page to a recorded title transaction which imposed, transferred, or continued the Department's interest. These showings involve the following matters of record.

The instrument the Department looks to for Section 712.03(1) purposes is the 1981 Trustee's Deed from Central Bank and Trust Company to Escambia Shores, Inc. (OR Book 545, Page 301)(R.XI 2092; A.4) The deed is included in Clipper Bay's chain of title set out in its Complaint (R.I 3,8), in its January 21, 2009, motion for summary final judgment (R.I 163, 166), and in the parties' Joint Stipulation as to Chains of Title. (R.II 357-358)

The deeds through which Clipper Bay acquired title to the lands in issue both contain references to Block C of Escambia Shores Unit 1 in their legal descriptions of the lands conveyed. (R.I 70-71, 80-82) The reference to Block C was not contained

in the 204/704 deed (root of title) legal description (R.VIII 1527; A.3) and that conveyance did not convey all the land making up Block C. (T.I 192; R.IX 1691-1692; R.X 1889) The first time Block C shows up in a legal description in Clipper Bay's chain of title is in the 1981 Trustee's Deed. (R.I 8, 166; R.II 357-358; R.XI 2092-2094; A.4) Block C is then referenced in the legal descriptions of all future conveyances in Clipper Bay's chain of title. (R.I 8-9)

The 1981 Trustee's Deed contained the recitation that the Bank was:

...acting in pursuance and by virtue of the powers in it vested by a deed to CENTRAL PLAZA BANK AND TRUST COMPANY, as Trustee, from CENTRAL BANK AND TRUST COMPANY, dated the 14th day of September, 1965, recorded in Official Records Book 119, Page 16, Public Records of Santa Rosa County, Florida, and a declaration of trust as to the premises conveyed, dated the 15th day of September, 1965, being LAND TRUST AGREEMENT #8051, and of every other power and authority to them granted thereunder....[Emphasis added]

(R.XI 2092; A.4)

The September 14, 1965 deed recorded in Official Record Book 119, Page 16 (119/16 deed), excepted from the conveyance a "prior conveyance to the State of Florida of the following property[.]" (R.XI 2096; A.5) The 119/16 deed then set out a detailed legal description of the lands that the Bank had conveyed to the Department only four months earlier. (R.XI 2096-

2098; A.5) This was the same legal description contained in the Bank's May 19, 1965 conveyance to the Department recorded at Official Record Book 119, Page 303 (119/303 deed), which had created and transferred the fee estate to the Department. (R.V 975-978; A.6)

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The First District Court of Appeal correctly concluded that the exception to marketability set out in Section 712.03(5), Florida Statutes, applies to public rights-of-way held in fee. The <u>Dardashti</u> court's contrary limited reading of the exception should be rejected because it would allow a publicly held fee interest to be extinguished by MRTA while a lesser nonpossessory and possibly unrecorded interest would be preserved.

Construing the Section 712.03(5) exception to apply to public rights-of-way held in fee as well as those held as recorded or unrecorded easements or similar interests is consistent with the judicially mandated broad construction of the exception and would do no injustice to the liberal construction of MRTA required by the Legislature in Section 712.10, Florida Statutes.<sup>4</sup> Read together the language limiting

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Section 712.10, Florida Statutes, provides: "This law shall be liberally construed to effect the legislative purpose of simplifying and facilitating land title transactions by allowing persons to rely on a record title as described in s. 712.02

the scope of liberal construction in Section 712.10 and the provisions of the Section 712.03(5) exception express an unmistakable legislative intent to exclude publicly owned right-of-way from the operation of MRTA.

Moreover, when MRTA was enacted in 1963, the 1961 version of Chapter 334 defined "right-of-way" as land held by a public entity in either fee or an easement. When using the term "right-of-way in Section 712.03(5), Florida Statutes (1963), the Legislature, which presumptively passes statutes with the knowledge of prior existing statutes, clearly intended the exception to apply to public rights-of-way whether owned in fee or held as an easement.

While the First District Court of Appeal properly concluded that the Section 712.03(5) exception operated to protect public rights-of-way held in fee, the court erred in its refusal to apply the exception to preserve the entirety of the Department's fee estate on the basis of its determination that the Department failed to present competent, substantial evidence that the Land at issue was ever devoted to or required for part of its I-10 right-of-way. The lower court's focus on the "land at issue" instead of the Department's fee estate as a whole as a basis for its use analysis collides with both City of Jacksonville v.

subject only to such limitations as appear in s. 712.03." [Emphasis added]

<u>Horn</u>, 496 So. 2d 204 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986) and <u>Davidson</u> where the courts concluded that any use of a portion of the public entity's interest would preserve the interest to its full width and length. The land at issue in this case was part of a tract acquired by the Department through a single conveyance for the I-10 project. The Department's construction of the I-10 facility on one portion of the tract and its lease of another portion of the tract to Santa Rosa County to construct a county road preserved the Department's entire fee estate under Section 712.03(5).

The First District Court of Appeal's Section 712.03(5) use analysis based on the land at issue rather the entire fee estate to the mistaken conclusion that also led the court the Department's right-of-way was limited to lands south of the I-10 fence line. When analyzed in terms of the Department's entire fee required by Horn and Davidson, estate, as competent substantial record evidence confirms that the Department's entire fee ownership was acquired for the I-10 project and that portions of the property were devoted to the actual construction of I-10 and a county road. Therefore, the Department's entire fee estate was preserved by operation of Section 712.03(5), Florida Statutes.

In addition to the Section 712.03(5) exception, the exception to marketability set out in Section 712.03(1), Florida

Statutes preserves the Department's entire fee estate because Clipper Bay's chain of title contains a specific reference to a recorded, pre-root instrument that excepted out lands previously conveyed to the State of Florida by the parties' common grantor. The First District Court of Appeal's rejection of this ground for preserving the Department's entire fee ownership should be set aside.

#### ARGUMENT

#### ISSUE I

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