#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

Case No. SC13-775

\_\_\_\_\_

# STATE OF FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION,

Petitioner,

VS.

### CLIPPER BAY INVESTMENTS, LLC,

Respondent.

\_\_\_\_\_

First District Court of Florida Case No. 1D11-5496 First Judicial Circuit Court Lower Case No. 08-1218-CA01-ORP

#### RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF

KENNETH B. BELL
Florida Bar No. 347035
kenbell@cphlaw.com
WILLIAM J. DUNAWAY
Florida Bar No. 021620
wdunaway@cphlaw.com
CLARK, PARTINGTON, HART,
LARRY, BOND & STACKHOUSE
P.O. Box 13010 (32591-3010)
125 West Romana Street, Suite 800
Pensacola, FL 32502
Tele: 850 434 9200

Tele: 850.434.9200 Fax: 850.432.7390

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

Dardashti does not hold that section 712.03(5) does not apply to rights-of-way in fee.<sup>2</sup> Instead, the conflict question is whether or not this exception applies to preserve (1) a competing fee estate the state holds "for purposes of a right-of-way" (the decision below) or (2) an actual right-of-way, the location, length and width of which the state has properly established across another's fee or by dedication across it own. (See *Dardashti* and *Horn*.)

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The First District states that "*Dardashti* directly stands for the proposition that the exception in section 712.03(5) cannot apply to land held in fee by the government." *Id.* at 14. It does not expressly state that *Dardashti* holds that the exception does not apply to a government right-of-way held in fee. And, instead of finding decisional conflict, it uses *Dardashti* to find section 712.03(5) "ambiguous as to whether it can be applied to protect public rights of land held in fee." Id. at 14.

To answer this question, Clipper Bay will apply this Court's well-established principles of statutory interpretation to argue that section 712.03(5) preserves a sufficiently established right-of-way on the Parcel (whether an easement or fee estate), not a competing fee estate simply held for purposes of a right-of-way. This is the only resolution that avoids the risk of "hidden interests" that MRTA was enacted to eliminate. *Clipper Bay*, 117 So. 3d at 11 (citing *H & F Land, Inc. v. Panama City-Bay County Airport & Indus. Dist.*, 1167, 1172 (Fla. 1999), *receded from on other grounds by Blanton v. City of Pinellas Park*, 887 So. 2d 1224 (Fla. 2004)).

### A. Interpreting the Marketable Record Title Act

The primary rule of statutory construction is to give effect to legislative intent. And, because legislative intent is determined first and foremost from the statute's text, the language used in the statute is examined. *Raymond James Financial Services, Inc. v. Phillips, supra*, \*3. If the statute's text conveys a clear and definite meaning, its unequivocal meaning is applied without resort to rules of statutory interpretation and construction. If the language is ambiguous, the rules of statutory construction are applied to help interpret legislative intent. This search may include examination of legislative history and the purpose behind the statute's enactment. *West Florida Reg'l Med. Ctr., Inc. v. See*, 79 So. 3d 9 (Fla. 2012) (internal citations omitted).

In addition to these general interpretive principles, three additional principles guide a proper interpretation of MRTA. First, the legislature has stated its intent and purpose; and it has mandated that MRTA's text be liberally construed to achieve its intent and purpose. As section 712.10 requires, MRTA "shall be liberally construed to effect the legislative purpose of simplifying and facilitating land title transactions by allowing persons to rely on a record title as described in statute 712.02 subject only to such limitations as appear in statute 712.03." § 712.10, Fla. Stat. (2008). Stated otherwise, the legislative intent is that MRTA be liberally construed so that persons can rely on record title subject only to the limitations in section 712.03.

Second, this Court has already articulated MRTAs legislative history and has reiterated its purpose. *See H & F Land, Inc., v. Panama City-Bay Co. Airport Indus. Dist.*, 736 So. 2d 1167 (Fla. 1999), *receded from in part on other grounds, Blanton v. City of Pinellas Park*, 887 So. 2d 1224 (Fla. 2004). As this Court stated in *H & F Land*, the core purposes of MRTA are: (1) to stabilize property law by clearing old defects from land titles; (2) to limit the period of record search; and, (3) to clearly define marketability by extinguishing old interests of record not specifically claimed or reserved. *H & F Land, Inc.* 736 So. 2d at 1172-73. Stated otherwise, "(a) core concern of MRTA was that there be no "hidden" interests in property that could be asserted without limitation against a record property owner.

MRTA achieves this core concern by shifting the burden to those claiming "any claim or interest" in property to come forward in a timely fashion and assert that interest publically." *Id.* at 1172.

Third, this Court has made it clear that the judiciary will not expand or add to the legislatively enumerated exceptions in section 712.03. Doing so "would undermine the core purpose of MRTA." *H & F Land, Inc.* at 1172-73 (Fla. 1999). Indeed, judicial expansion of the enumerated exceptions would violate legislative intent. As this Court wrote in *ITT Rayonier, Inc. v. Wadsworth*, 346 So. 2d 1004, 1009 (Fla. 1977), the section 712.03 exceptions "and the specific provision in section 712.05 for the protection of valid claims indicate a legislative intent to exclude no other claims from extinction by the operation of Sections 712.02 and 712.04." *Id.* at 1012.

The First District's interpretation of section 712.03(5) rests on that court's extra-legislative policy giving special protection to public "rights or easements." Initial Br. 12, 24. This special protection disregards the prohibition against judicial expansion of the stated exceptions and must be addressed.

B. Section 712.03(5)'s recorded and unrecorded easements exception to marketability preserves a sufficiently established public and private right-of-way on the Parcel that is used.

The above interpretive principles establish that the legislative intent for section 712.03(5) is to protect and preserve from extinguishment established public

and private rights-of-way that actually cross over the Parcel. Nothing in the statute, its history, or purpose suggests a legislative intent to give special protection to a public fee estate simply because it is being "held for the purpose of right-of-way." *Clipper Bay* at 16. In reaching its decision, the First District concedes this fact when it acknowledges that its interpretive problem was not trying to reconcile the statute with legislative intent. Instead, its problem was reconciling the statute and legislative intent with its own public policy "that rights or easements once acquired for the use or benefit of the public are not easily lost or surrendered." *Clipper Bay* at 14 (quoting *City of Jacksonville v. Horn*, 496 So. 2d 204, 208 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986)).

Before addressing the propriety of the First District adding its own public policy to MRTA, Clipper Bay will apply this Court's interpretive principles and precedent. The statutory text will be examined first.

## 1. Defining "rights-of-way" as used in section 712.03(5), Fla. Stat.

Chapter 712 does not define "rights-of-way." So, this Court must decide its legislatively intended meaning.

## a. The ordinary meaning of "rights-of-way."

"When considering the meaning of terms used in a statute, [this Court] looks first to the terms' ordinary definitions . . . definitions [that] may be derived from dictionaries." *Phillips*, at \*3 (citation omitted). *Black's Law Dictionary* defines

"right of way" as: "1. The right to pass through property owned by another; 2. The right to build and operate a . . . highway on land belonging to another or the land so used." *Black's Law Dictionary*, 1341 (8th ed. 2009). As such, the ordinary meaning of right-of-way includes easements or lands so used.

#### b. Statutory definitions for right-of-way.

In addition to this ordinary meaning of right-of-way are two statutory definitions in other chapters of Florida Statutes. Chapter 334, Florida's Transportation Code defines right-of-way as "land in which the state, the department, a county, or a municipality owns the fee or has an easement devoted to or required for use as a transportation facility." § 334.03(22), Fla. Stat. Chapter 177, Land Boundaries, defines right-of-way as "land dedicated, deeded, used or to be used for a street, alley, walkway, boulevard, drainage facility, access for ingress and egress, or other purpose by the public, certain designated individuals, or governing bodies." § 177.031(16), Fla. Stat.

There is no legislative history that suggests the legislature intended "rights-of-way" as used in section 712.03(5) to have more than its ordinary meaning as an easement right or the land that actually is used as a right-of-way.<sup>3</sup>

dichotomy between rights-of-way as an easement versus a fee interest is a false dichotomy. As

20

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Clipper Bay acknowledges that it argued below that the ordinary meaning of "rights-of-way" was limited to an easement right. In finalizing this brief, Clipper Bay became convinced otherwise. The second Black's Law Dictionary definition includes the phrase "or land so used." This phrase suggests rights-of-way in fee are included in the ordinary definition. If so, the

As such, relying on the definition of right-of-way in chapter 334 is unnecessary in defining the meaning of rights-of-way in chapter 712. Nonetheless, chapter 334 and its related chapter 335 are helpful in resolving the decisional conflict and answering FDOT's other issues.

As noted earlier, section 335.02 requires that "[r]ight of way maps used for the acquisition of real property rights and adopted by the (FDOT) shall, upon completion of monumentation, be filed in accordance with chapter 177 in the office of the clerk of the circuit court in the appropriate county." The obvious purpose of this mandate is to put anyone surveying and searching title to property on notice that FDOT claims an interest in the land. It also clarifies the location, length and width of FDOT's rights-of-way. FDOT failed to monument or file a right-of-way map in Santa Rosa County.

Chapter 177 includes Florida law on platting subdivisions such as the Escambia Shores, Unit 1 plat in this case. As chapters 334 and 335, chapter 177's definition of "rights-of-way" is in the context of requiring one to record in the county clerk's public records a map that delineates the location, length and width of all rights-of-way, lots, etc. In other words, the land to be used as a right-of-way must be delineated as such.

such, section 712.03(5) is unambiguous. The question then is simply whether or not FDOT has a right-of-way interest to be preserved.

Given the unambiguous ordinary meaning of rights-of-way as an easement access across another's parcel or land so used, the exception in Section 712.03(5) cannot be read to preserve a competing fee estate simply because that competing fee may be "held for purposes of right-of-way." To be more than a "hidden" interest and preserved under Section 712.03(5), the right-of-way must be properly established. This is true whether that right-of-way is an easement across another's fee (a servitude) or properly imposed on the state's own fee (a use dedication). Chapter 335 dictates how the state is to establish its rights-of-way interests. FDOT never established a right-of-way across the Parcel as chapter 335 dictates. Failing to establish a right-of-way beyond the one it has constructed and maintained south of the Parcel, FDOT simply holds a competing fee estate title to the Parcel. That competing fee estate is extinguished under MRTA.

- 2. The Inter-District Conflict between Dardashti and Clipper Bay.
  - a. Under *Dardashti*, established rights-of-way are not extinguished, only competing fee estates that may be held for the purposes of right-of-way, but across which no right-of-way was ever created are extinguished.

In *Dardashti*, the two trial judges concluded "that subsection (5) did not apply to a right-of-way in fee." *Id.* at 122. In doing so, they applied the ordinary meaning of rights-of-way and read subsection (5) in its context. They reasoned that, had the legislature intended subsection (5) to preserve possessory estates, it

would have included the term "estates" as it did in subsections 712.03(1), (2) and (4). There is no indication these trial judges considered the statutory definitions in chapters 334 and 177.

The *Dardashti* decision notes but never adopts the trial judges' reasoning as its own. The decision is that the 1917 deed conveyed fee title, but that conveyance of fee title did not itself establish or create a right-of-way on that fee. As the court wrote:

As did Judge Carlisle, we hold that the 1917 deed did not create an easement or right-of-way. Although the 1917 deed labeled the fifty foot parcel as a "right of way and easement," those words merely described the purpose for the conveyance. See Robb v. Atlantic Coast R.R. Co., 117 So.2d 534, 537 (Fla. 2d DCA 1960) ("fee [title] will pass by deed containing a clause or recital which is merely declaratory of the use contemplated of the land."). Although the 1917 deed provided that the land would revert if not used as a public highway, that provision merely created a covenant of the deed. Id. at 535-36. Whatever one chooses to call it, an ownership interest, a right-of-way in fee, or a determinable fee interest, we hold that the County received fee title to the fifty foot parcel." Id. at 122. (emphasis added).

With this penultimate decision, the *Dardashti* court next looked to MRTA's purpose and the text of section 712.03(5). It ultimately concluded that, "[b]ecause the County did not have an easement or right-of-way over the fifty foot parcel, section 712.03(5) would not apply." *Id.* at 123. In other words, the *Dardashti* decision does <u>not</u> hold that section 712.03(5) applies to preserve rights-of-way as easements (a "lesser interest") but does not preserve rights-of-way in fee (a

"greater interest"). *Dardashti* simply holds that the 1917 deed itself did not create a right-of-way.

The right-of-way in *Dardashti* was not created or established until decades later when the right-of-way was mapped and that map was recorded. That recorded map showed the location, length and width of the right-of-way that the County dedicated or imposed on its own fee. That established right-of-way covered only a portion of the fee (39 ft.) and was north of the parcel in dispute. With no dedicated or established right-of-way on the remaining fee, *Dardashti* simply and correctly holds that section 712.03(5) did not preserve FDOT's competing fee estate in the eleven-feet portion that was outside the established right-of-way.

b. The First District's injudicious expansion of section 712.03(5) to protect fee estates held for the purpose of right-of-way.

The First District disagreed with *Dardashti*. As noted earlier, it acknowledged that MRTA mandates a liberal construction "to effect the legislative purpose of simplifying and facilitating land title transactions by allowing persons to rely on record title," and it was aware of this Court's precedent admonishing against judicial expansion of the section 712.03 exceptions. *Id.* at 3. (citing § 712.10, Fla. Stat.; *H & F Land, Inc., supra*). It even quotes from *H & F Land, Inc.* that "[a] core concern of MRTA was that there be no hidden interests in property

that could be asserted without limitation against a record property owner." *Clipper Bay*, 117 So. 3d at 11. Nonetheless, the First District found it necessary to reconcile these dictates with its own public policy "that rights or easements once acquired for the use and benefit of the public are not easily lost or surrendered." *Id.* at 14 (citing *City of Jacksonville v. Horn*, 496 So. 2d 204, 208 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986)). It also was troubled by FDOT's erroneous argument that under the *Dardashti* rationale, a right-of-way in fee is given less protection than a non-possessory right-of-way. On this basis, the First District ultimately held that "the exception to marketability in section 712.03(5) applies to land held in fee for the purpose of right-of-way." *Clipper Bay*, 117 So. 3d at 9.

### 3. Resolving the Intra-District Decisional Conflict.

From Clipper Bay's perspective, the decisional conflict does not turn on whether section 712.03(5) preserves both rights-of-way as easements and rights-of-way in fee. Therefore, whether or not the term "right-of-way" as used in section 712.03(5) includes a right-of-way in fee is not the issue. The proper question is whether FDOT has an established right-of-way on the disputed fee that is subject to preservation under section 712.03(5), Florida Statutes. As a matter of law, FDOT never created or established a right-of-way on the Parcel. The only right-of-way it established was the land it used as the right-of-way. That land is south of

the Parcel. As such, FDOT simply has a competing fee estate that is not preserved under section 712.03(5).

The decisional conflict instead turns on whether or not section 712.03(5) preserves (1) a competing fee estate the state holds "for purposes of a right-of-way" (the decision below) or (2) an actual right-of-way, the location, length and width of which the state has properly established across another's fee or by dedication across its own fee (*Dardashti* and *Horn*).

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